8-18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JUL 27 1987
CLERK OF THE COURT

JAMES A. MATHIS, ET UX.,

Petitioners,

v.

FOOTE STEEL CORPORATION, ET AL.,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 70,258

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
5TH DISTRICT NO. 86-513

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

HOWARD G. BUTLER, ESQUIRE
Meyers and Mooney, P.A.
17 South Lake Avenue
Orlando, Florida 32801
(305) 849-0940
Attorney for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Parties herein shall be referred as they appeared before the Circuit Court Judge. The Petitioners/Appellants/Plaintiffs, JAMES A. MATHIS and CATHY MATHIS, will be referred to as "Plaintiffs." The Respondents/Appellees/Defendants will be referred to as "Defendants."

Witnesses shall be referred to by surname and/or by title.

References to the Record below shall be made by: (R--).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As there have been multiple defendants involved in this case, only the facts which pertain to the Defendants Harnischfeger Corp. and Harnischfeger & Pauling Corp. will be related.

On August 17, 1977, the Plaintiff, JAMES A. MATHIS, was seriously injured and rendered a paraplegic when the boom of a crane designed and manufactured by the Defendants collapsed and fell on him. On August 13, 1981, the Plaintiffs brought suit against these Defendants and others under several theories of liability. Notice for trial was filed by the Plaintiffs on January 11, 1985.

On three separate occasions, the cause was set for trial and was continued on motion by one of the Defendants, over the objections of the Plaintiffs. On July 26, 1985, one of the Defendants, GEORGE FOOTE, moved for continuance of the trial set for August 12, 1985. The continuance was granted because Mr. Foote was set to go to the Soviet Union on vacation and a cancellation would have meant a forfeiture of the \$10,000.00 price of the trip. Had this (third) continuance not been granted, trial would have taken place in the two-week period beginning August 12, 1985, before the Pullum case was handed down.

In early 1986, these Defendants moved for summary judgment on the basis that the Plaintiffs' suit was barred by Section 95.031(2) Florida Statutes, as construed by the case of Pullum v. Cincinnati, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985).

Summary judgment in favor of the Defendants was granted on March 13, 1986, and Plaintiffs timely appealed.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal, on February 18, 1987, affirmed the summary judgment on the basis of the Pullum case and other cases construing the statute in question. (Appendix page 1).

Plaintiffs timely petitioned The Supreme Court of the State of Florida to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction, which petition was granted June 8, 1987.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Point I

Whether the application of Section 95.031(2) Florida Statutes (pursuant to the Pullum decision) to bar the Plaintiffs' suit was error.

Point II

Whether a rational and legitimate basis exists for applying an arbitrary limitation period of twelve years to actions involving all products, irrespective of the normal useful life of said products.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The 12 year statute of repose, as it was applied through the Pullum case to bar the Plaintiffs' suit, was an unconstitutional denial of the Plaintiffs' right of access to courts. The corrective legislation passed in 1986 should be given retrospective effect so as to guard the Plaintiffs' constitutional rights. The Plaintiffs' had the right to rely on the Battilla decision and should not be precluded from completing their case which was initiated after Battilla but before Pullum.

There is no rational and legitimate basis for applying an arbitrary 12 year limit to actions involving products, irrespective of the normal useful life of the said products. There are practical ways for manufacturers to manage their exposure to liability that would not involve cutting off a plaintiff's right to sue for injuries even before the right had accrued. The application of the 12 year statute of repose in this case was incorrect and denied the Plaintiffs their constitutional rights.

ARGUMENT ON POINT I

Whether the application of Section 95.031(2) Florida Statutes (pursuant to the Pullum decision) to bar the Plaintiff's suit was error.

The application of the statute of repose, pursuant to this Court's decision in Pullum v. Cincinnati, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla 1985), to bar the Plaintiffs' suit was error.

This Court is not unaware of the many cases on appeal which concern this same issue. An examination of the decisions which have been handed down since the Pullum decision shows that 30 cases have been reported in Florida Law Weekly. Of the 30, 26 have certified to this Court questions of great public importance. All concern plaintiffs, like the Plaintiff here, whose injuries occurred more than 12 years after the product was delivered to the original purchaser. These cases have been barred because, although they had been filed on the basis of this Court's decision in Battila v. Allis Chalmers Manufacturing Co., 392 So.2d 874 (Fla 1980), (which held the statute of repose unconstitutional as applied to a person who was injured and whose cause of action against a manufacturer accrued more than 12 years after delivery) the effect of Pullum is that the twelve year statute of repose is considered to have been valid all along. (Appendix, pages 2 and 3)

Although the legislature promptly amended the statute to delete the 12 year limit, Florida courts have not given the amendment retroactive effect. Ch. 86-272 Laws of Florida. In Cassidy v. Firestone Tire & Rubber, 495 So.2d 801 (Fla 1st DCA 1986), one of the 30 cases mentioned above, the court stated that

that no substantial inequity or unfairness had been shown which would result from an application of the Pullum decision.

It is Plaintiffs' position that a most unfair and inequitable result has occurred by having the Pullum case applied to bar their suit. In the instant case, Plaintiff was a young construction worker whose life was tragically and irreparably altered one day when a crane fell on him and crushed him. He lived, but remains a paraplegic with severe medical problems. Relying on this Court's decision in the Battilla case, he and his wife brought suit against, among others, the manufacturers of the crane who are the Defendants in this appeal. Plaintiff was prepared and anxious to go to trial on three separate occasions, only to have the case continued on motion of one of the defendants, and over his objections. It is important to note that no mention of the statute of repose was made until after the Pullum decision was handed down in 1985, seven years after the injury and four years after suit had been filed. Only after Pullum did the Defendants move for a summary judgment on the basis of the statute of repose.

The factual situation in Pullum is different than that of the instant case. In Pullum, the plaintiff was injured within the 12 year limit, but because of the operation of the statute of repose, his time for filing suit was not the 4 years allowed under the regular statute of limitations, but was shortened to a little over one year. That is a totally different situation than the instant one, where the Plaintiff's right of action did not even accrue until after the 12 year limit had expired.

It is interesting to note that, had the case gone to trial as scheduled, Plaintiff would have had his day in court and had a decision as to whether the Defendants were liable for any defect in their product. Likewise, according to this Court's recent decision in Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. v. Phlieger, 12 F.L.W. 256 (Fla May 28 1987), had the Plaintiff been killed and timely suit been brought, the cause of action against these same Defendants would not have been barred. This is not an unfair or inequitable result? While the trial was continued to allow one of the defendants (not the Defendants in the instant appeal) to vacation in the Soviet Union, the Plaintiffs had their chance for their day in court snatched away. Pullum allows their right of action to be extinguished before it ever arose. This is not a denial of the Plaintiff's constitutional right to access to the courts? Art. I, §21, Fla. Const. Apparently this substantial wrong has no remedy? As late as 1984 this Court stated that a statute which would cause a person's right of action on an injury to be extinguished before it had accrued would be unconstitutional as applied, because it would deny the person's right of access to courts. Universal Engineering Corp. v. Perez, 451 So.2d 463,468 (Fla 1984).

The legislature had a swift and unequivocal response to the Pullum decision. Within months they had amended the statute in question to eliminate the 12 year restriction. It is important to note that no such swift expression of their intent occurred after the Battilla decision was handed down. It seems clear that the legislature agreed with this Court's opinion in Battilla and made no effort to reinforce or in any way reinstate the 12 year limit. Their speedy response in making the change after Pullum

is strong evidence that their intent was that there should be no limit other than the general 4 year statute of limitations.

In the face of such a clear demonstration of the intent of the legislature, it is this Court's duty to ensure that fairness and justice prevail. Consider Judge Ferguson's specially concurring opinion in Dominguez v. Bucyrus-Erie Co., 12 F.L.W. 546 (Fla 3rd DCA February 11, 1987):

[Pullum] effectively shut the courthouse door on a cause of action in certain product liability cases even before the cause of action accrued, leaving a person injured by another private person without a remedy. The 1986 revision to section 95.031(2) was a prompt legislative overruling of Pullum.

We are not paralyzed, by policy or precedent, from giving the corrective legislation retrospective application to a case which was sandwiched between Battilla and Pullman, (sic) so that substantial justice and right shall prevail as contemplated by the constitution. Our duty as an appellate court in construing a statute is first to reconcile it with constitutional mandates. See Biggs v. Smith, 134 Fla.569, 184 So. 106 (1938) ("The duty is on this Court to see that substantial justice and right shall prevail.").

To rule that the corrective amendment to the statute of limitations can be applied retrospectively to those cases "sandwiched" between Battilla and Pullum would be a way to see that justice and right prevail. This court would not be opening "floodgates" that would allow thousands of plaintiffs to immediately begin filing suits. What is at stake are the few plaintiffs who were unfortunate enough to have been caught by the conflicting opinions. Plaintiffs have shown that

there are at least 30 that have gone through the appellate system, (see Appendix, pages 2,3) but there can not be many more who would fit within this narrow category.

Retrospectively applying the corrective legislation would not prejudice manufacturers in general or the defendants in these cases. For four years after the decision in Battilla and since July 1, 1986, manufacturers have operated under the knowledge that there was no statutorily prescribed limit as to how long they remained liable for products they designed and manufactured. It is very doubtful that thousands of manufacturers, upon learning of the Pullum decision in the state of Florida, promptly heaved a sigh of relief and changed their manufacturing standards to provide that products only had to last 12 years. Manufacturers know and expect that they are responsible for their products. They have several methods at their disposal to help them manage their exposure to liability for their products. If they make a product that they later discover has a defect, they can recall the product. Automobile manufacturers have done this for years. If they have reason to believe that a product is only safe or effective for a certain period of time, they can provide a statement to the purchaser which gives an indication of such. Manufacturers of foodstuffs and drugs do this all the time. A statute of repose that extinguishes a person's right of action before it accrues is unconstitutional and the legislature's intent in the instant situation is that there be no such limit. This Court is able to and should allow the corrective legislation to be applied retrospectively to those cases where, as here, injured persons

have been caught between conflicting decisions, especially since no prejudice will result to the defendants in these cases.

In the four years since suit was filed in the instant case, Plaintiffs have employed and deposed many experts at great cost. They have been involved with several appeals. Subjecting the Plaintiffs, who for four years had relied on the authority of a decision of the Supreme Court of Florida, to the recent changes brought about by the decision in Pullum, reduces the Plaintiffs' cause of action to the same level of certainty as a throw of the dice. Such uncertainty breeds a lack of confidence in the laws of our state and undoubtedly has a chilling effect on other plaintiffs who may attempt to seek redress for injuries in costly litigation proceedings.

In Culpepper v. Culpepper, 3 So.2d 330 (Fla 1941) the defendant's attorney had filed a plea of privilege in a proceeding in reliance on a decision of the Florida Supreme Court that such a pleading was proper. While these pleadings were pending, the Florida Supreme Court decided another case in which their previous ruling was overruled. The Culpepper court held that the defendant had a right to rely on the first decision and that the order of the trial court striking the plea and effectively removing her from the case was error.

Likewise, the "sandwiched" plaintiffs in these cases had a right to rely on the Battilla decision and their acts in reliance on a decision of the court of last resort should not be tossed aside when it deprives them of their access to courts as guaranteed by the constitution.

The Plaintiffs in the instant case reached the courthouse steps on three occasions while relying on a decision of the court of the last resort. They should not be subject to the effect of the Pullum case which causes the statute of repose to have been valid all along. The corrective legislation which disposes of the 12 year limit should be retrospectively applied so as to protect the consitutional rights of the citizens of Florida who have been injured. At the very least, this Court should amend and limit its decision in Pullum to only apply prospectively and allow all of the "sandwiched" plaintiffs to complete their suits they had begun in reliance on Battilla. True justice requires no less.

ARGUMENT ON POINT II

Whether a rational and legitimate basis exists for applying an arbitrary limitation period of twelve years to actions involving all products, irrespective of the normal useful life of such products.

Plaintiffs submit that there is no rational and legitimate basis for an arbitrary limitation period of 12 years on all products, irrespective of the normal useful life of such products.

In Florida, Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla 1973) has long stood for the fundamental principle that the legislature is without the authority to abolish a right of action

without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

Id at 4. Section 95.031(2) Fla. Stat. (1979) abolishes a person's right of redress 12 years after the product has been delivered to the original purchaser and is, as correctly held by the court in the Battilla case, unconstitutional as applied to persons whose causes of action for product liability accrued more than 12 years after original delivery.

By their very nature, statutes of limitation and repose serve to limit the period of time for which a cause of action may be brought under particular circumstances. Such statutes are generally upheld under the premise that they bear some legitimate relationship to the purpose for which they were intended to serve, i.e. to provide plaintiffs sufficient time to seek

redress while at the same time reasonably limiting defendants' exposure to liability. See Eslin v. Collins, 108 So.2d 889 (Fla 1959) There is no such legitimate relationship in this case.