IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES A. MATHIS, ET UX.,

Petitioners,

VS.

CASE NO.: 70,255

District Court of Appeal, 5th district No. 86-513

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL A. MILLER, ESQ. ANDERSON & MILLER, P.A. The One Building, Ste. 650 One S. Orange Avenue Orlando, FL 32801 305/422-1781

The Addition of E

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

ARGUMENT ON ISSUE NUMBER I

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS APPLICATION OF FLORIDA STATUTES §95.031(2) BARRING THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE FOR ACTION

AGRUMENT ON ISSUE NUMBER II

A RATIONAL LEGITIMATE BASIS EXISTS FOR APPLYING THE TWELVE (12) YEAR LIMITATION TO CASES BASED ON PRODUCTS LIABILITY

ARGUMENT ON ISSUE NUMBER III

THE 1986 LEGISLATION AMENDING FLORIDA STATUTE \$95.031(2) SHOULD NOT BE GIVEN RETROSPECTIVE EFFECT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Purusant to Florida Statute \$95.031(2), plaintiff's injury could not form any basis of a legal cause of action in the courts of the State of Florida; therefore, plaintiff's never had a cause of action against defendants. Insofar as no cause of action ever existed, plaintiff's right of access to the courts under Florida's constitution could not have been denied.

No clear precident existed for the circumstances of the instant case; therefore, plaintiff's could not have detrimentally relied upon existing law, and any such reliance is not a proper basis for limiting the application of existing case law and to perspective only operation. In addition, plaintiffs have not been deprived of a property or contract right; therefore there is no such basis for limiting the application of existing law to perspective only operation. Further, even if the applicable statute was once adjudged unconstitutional, it has now been adjudged constitutional and should be treated as if valid from the date of its enactment. This court has held that a rational and legitimate basis exists for applying the limitations period of twelve (12) years to cases based on products liability and that twelve (12) years was a reasonable limitation period to be applied.

Finally, absent specific legislative intent, the 1986 amendment to Florida Statute \$95.031(2) should not be retrospectively applied to the case at bar. Plaintiff's injury occurred over ten years ago and said amendment is totally void of any expression of intent by the legislature that it be applied retrospectively.

ARGUMENT ON ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS APPLICATION OF FLORIDA STATUTES §95.031(2) BARRING THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE FOR ACTION.

The applicable Statute of Repose found in 7 Fla. Stat. Ann. \$95.031(2) provides in pertinent part as follows:

Actions for products liability and fraud under \$95.11(3), must begin within the period running from the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, instead of running from any date prescribed elsewhere in \$95.11(3) but in any event, within twelve (12) years after the date of delivery of the completed product to its original purchaser . . .

The above Statute of Repose unambiguously provides a time limit of twelve (12) years within which a product liability action on a particular manufactured product must be brought. A statute of repose should be distinguished from a statute of limitations. A statute of limitations does not begin to run until the cause of action accrues, while a statute of repose terminates the right to bring an action after a certain period of time expires. Colony Hill Condominium I Association v. Colony Co., 320 S.E.2d 273, 276 (N. C. App. 1984). The period of time bears no relationship to when the particular wrong occurred. Klein v. Catalano, 437 N.E.2d 514, 516 (Mass. App. 1982). A statute of repose defines the scope of a right to bring a cause of action. It effectively clears a potential defendant of any wrong doing or obligation once the time limit expires. Colony Hill, supra at 326. A statute of repose, in other words, does not bar a cause of action; its effect is to prevent what might otherwise be a cause of action from ever arising. Rosenberg v. Town of North Bergen, 293 A. 662, 667(N. J. 1972).

The potential plaintiff has no cause of action. It is within the power of the legislature to create new rights or abolish old ones as long as no vested right is disturbed. Id. A plaintiff has no vested right in a tort claim. Durcharme v. Merill National Laboratories, 574 F.2d 1307 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, at 439 U.S. 1002 (1978).

The application of each of the above principles have been applied specifically to Florida Statute \$95.031(2) in the recent case of Lamb v. Volkswagenwerk Aktiengesellschaft, 631 F. 1144 (S.D. Fla. 1986). The court in Lamb unequivocally stated its understanding of Erie Railroad Co. v. Thompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938) and Bailey v. Southern Pacific Transport Co., 613 F.2d 1385, 1388 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 836 (1980) mandating that it follow the most recent announcements of the Florida Supreme Court regarding its analysis and determination of the apposite statute of repose to the case then at bar. Lamb at 1147. That case is identical to the circumstances of the instant case in that the injury occurred after the expiration of the limitation period and its reasoning should be applied herein. It is uncontroverted that the crane and its boom were manufactured by defendants in 1959. Plaintiff in the instant action was injured on August 17, 1977 and filed his complaint on August 13, 1981.

Applying the principles in <u>Lamb</u> to the case <u>sub judice</u>, it is clear that plaintiff's right of access to the court would not have been unconstitutionally denied. By definition, plaintiffs had no cause of action to pursue. The Florida Legislature abolished the cause of action and rightfully so, since plaintiffs could have no vested right in a tort claim. Durcharme.

Plaintiff relies on Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Mfg. Co., 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1981), in which this Court struck down §95.031(2) as a violation of plaintiff's right of access to the courts. this per curiam opinion disapproving §95.031(2), this Court relied chiefly on Overland Construction Co. v. Sirmons, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979), where it was held that a similar twelve year statute of repose regarding architects and builders was violative of a plaintiff's constitutional right of access of the courts. However, in a well reasoned dissent, which has now become the majority opinion, Justice McDonald (joined by Justices Overton and Alderman) reasoned that, although the language in Overland was such that it could be authoritive to extend its application to Fla. Stat. §95.031(2) such should be limited to apply only to Fla. Stat. §95.11(3)(c). Justice McDonald expressed that a twelve year Battilla at 874. limitation would be reasonable for liability regarding manufactured products although not for liability regarding improvements to real Id. at Overland, however did not address the property. constitutionality of §95.031(2), but held only that problems of proof did not constitute a compelling necessity sufficient to justify the twelve year limitation bringing causes of action based on negligent design, planning or construction of an improvement to real property. Overland at 574. Obviously there is quite a difference between cases based on defects and improvements to real property and cases based on product defects.

In a more recent case this court has announced its reversal of Battilla and held that the statutue was not unconstitutional. Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985). In Pullum the plaintiff was injured in April of 1977 while operating a Cincinnati Press-Brake Machine delivered to its original purchaser

in November of 1966. The plaintiff there filed suit in 1980, more than twelve years from the delivery date. In Pullum this court had its first opportunity to revisit the product liability statute of repose found in §95.031(2). This court chose to reverse its prior ruling in Battilla and held that the statute was constitutional. In Pullum, this court affirmed granting of Summary Judgment in favor of a defendant manufacturer, when the plaintiff had instituted suit more than twelve years after the delivery of the product to its This court determined that the statute does initial purchaser. not deny equal protection, because it rationally relates to a legitimate state objective. Contrary to its previous holding in Battilla, this court also ruled that the statute did not violate Florida's access-to-courts constitutional provision. "The legislature in enacting this statute of repose, reasonably decided that perpetual liability places an undue burden on manufacturers, and it decided that twelve years from the date of sale is a reasonable time for exposure to liability for manufacturing of a product". Id. at 659. The court also observed, as Justice McDonald had in his dissent in Battilla, that because the normal useful life of a building is obviously greater than most manufactured products, distinction should be made between limiting liability exposure for buildings and for products.

This analysis is correct. The unique provisions of Florida's constitution, which declares that "[t]he courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury" is a mandate to the judiciary, not the legislature. It ensures that the courts will be open to

those who suffer an invasion of a legal right as established by a constitutional, statutory, or common law. It does not curtail the ability of the legislature to define and limit legal rights and injuries. The legislature can classify damage as outside the realm of legal injury, and such pronouncements must be upheld so long as no other constitutional provision is violated. In upholding the constitutionality of \$95.031(2), the <u>Pullum</u> court recognized that it was not denying the plaintiff of redress to which he was entitled, but, rather, the plaintiff had no cause of action to be pursued.

The plaintiff in the case at bar argues that Pullum should not be given retroactive application so as to eviscerate his reliance on Battilla and effectively bar his cause of action in this case. The general rule under Florida law is that a decision of a court last resort which overrules a former decision or establishes previously unrecognized claims for relief is retrospective as well prospective in its operation unless specifically declared by the decision to have only a prospective effect. Florida Forest and Park Service v. Strickland, 18 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1944); Parkway General Hosp., Inc. v. Stern, 400 So.2d 166 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). The exception to this general rule applies to cases where property contract rights have been acquired in accordance with such Those rights should not then be destroyed by giving a subsequent overruling decision retrospective operation. Florida Forest at 253. In the instant case the plaintiff has neither alleged nor are there in fact any such rights that would preclude the general rules application. Furthermore, a statute is not unconstitutionally retrospective in its operation unless it impairs a substantive, vested right. A substantive vested right is an immediate right of present enjoyment, or a present fixed right of future enjoyment.

In Re: Will of Martell, 457 So.2d 1064, 1067 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984). To be vested, a right must be more that a mere expectation based on an anticipation of the continuance of an existing law; it must have become a title, legal or equitable, to the present or future enforcement of a demand. Division of Workers Compensation v. Brevda 420 So.2d 887, 891 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). As noted, the plaintiff in this case had no vested contract or property right prior to Pullum; instead plaintiff had merely been pursuing a common law tort theory to recover damages. The statute of repose in the lapse of the twelve year statutory period obviated the very possibility of plaintiff injury from the sustaining any legal boom-crane. Retroactive application of the statute of repose cannot deprive plaintiff of a vested right because plaintiff's claim never became vested.

The principle of retroactive construction is further expounded upon in Christopher v. Mungen, 55 So. 273, 280 (Fla. 1911):

Where a statute is judicially adjudged to be unconstitutional, it will remain inoperative while the decision is maintained; but, if the decision is subsequently reversed, the statute will be held to be valid from the date it first became effective, even though rights acquired under particular adjudications where the statute was held to be invalid will not be affected by the subsequent decision that this statute is constitutional.

Such a law enacted by the legislature which later is declared unconstitutional will remain dormant and inoperative but not dead.

Lamb supra at 1149. If the law is again given life by a later decision that law will be considered valid from its inception. State v. White, 194 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1967).

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the plaintiff claims an inequity in that he reasonably relied on the ruling in <u>Battilla</u> in commencing his action. As long as the statute of repose existed within the

statutes, there was always the potential for the statute to be reactivated. There was <u>no absolute assurance</u> that the statute of repose would remain forever abrogated. In fact, the legislature took no action to abrogate the statute after <u>Batilla</u>. The final opinion in that case was rendered in February of 1981 just a few months prior to plaintiffs bringing this action.

The plaintiff, citing Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. v. Phlieger 12 FLW 256 (Fla. May 28, 1987), inaccurately states in his brief that had he died from his injuries the perceived cause of action would not be barred. Even a casual reading of Nissan reveals the misapplication of the rule in that case. There the plaintiff's personal representative brought a wrongful death action against the defendant, Nissan Motor Company. The trial court found the action barred by to be Fla. Stat. §95.031(2) because the plaintiff filed the action outside the twelve year statue of repose but within the statute of limitations. This Court agreed with the District Court of Appeals reversal stating first, that when the personal representative's decedent died within the twelve year period the right of action accurred and the plaintiff stepped into the decedent's Stat. §95.031(2) was clearly inapplicable place. Second, Fla. to a wrongful death action as the legislature expressed no intention to include such within the sections time limits.

The District Court correctly applied §95.031(2) in barring plaintiff's aciton in the present case. The legislature defined the time limit in which all persons could seek to pursue a products liability claim. Fla. Stat. §95.031(2). This Court, in Pullum,

ruled the §95.031(2) statute of repose constitutional. Although the plaintiff had relied on the <u>Battilla</u> decision in bringing his action he had acquired <u>no vested right</u> in so doing. Plaintiff merely had an expectation of recovery in damages on a tort claim. Thus, the general rule allowing retrospective application of a decision by a court of last resort overruling a former decision should itself be applied in the instant case. In doing so plaintiff's cause of action is clearly and correctly barred by Florida Statutes §95.031(2).

ARGUMENT OF ISSUE II

A RATIONAL LEGITIMATE BASIS EXISTS FOR APPLYING THE TWELVE (12) YEAR LIMITATION TO CASES BASED ON PRODUCTS LIABILITY.

As previously noted in <u>Pullum</u> this Court has held that a rational and legitimate basis exists for applying the limitations period of twelve years to causes of actions based on products liability. This Court has stated that liability should be restricted to a time commensurate with the normal useful life of manufactured products so as to relieve manufactures of the onerous burden of perpetual liability regardless of when a product was manufactured and sold.

It is unrealistic to expect the legislature of this state to provide varying limitation periods for the hundreds and thousands of products sold in this state based on their differing periods of normal useful life. The legislature, in enacting Florida Statute \$95.031(2), determined that twelve years was a reasonable limitations period to apply to all manufactured products. The legislature determined that twelve years is a reasonable period of time within which a cause of action based on a defective product may be brought. Battilla at 875.

Statutes of repose are intended to shield manufacturers from the prospect of a never ending potential liability which lasts indefinately beyond the time the product is first marketed. Such statutes share a purpose of encouraging diligence and prosecution of claims, eliminating the potential for abuse from a stale claim and fostering certainty and finality in liability. Such measures are acknowledged as a legislative balancing of interest designed to insure a stable market for the manufacturer of basic products.

Statutes of repose do appear to accomodate the counterveiling interests involved. "Over ninety-seven percent of product related accidents occur within six years of the time the product was purchased . . . " Model Uniform Product Liability Act, \$110, analysis, reprinted in 44 Fed. Reg. 62,714 at 62,733 (1979). The Federal Register citing an I.S.O. Closed Claim Survey. As the aforementioned reasoning Pullum delineates, clearly there is a rational and legitimate basis for Florida Statutes \$95.031(2). Pullum is clearly dispositive of this appeal.

ARGUMENT OF ISSUE III

THE 1986 LEGISLATION AMENDING FLORIDA STATUTE \$95.031(2) SHOULD NOT BE GIVEN RETROSPECTIVE EFFECT

A statute is not to be given retrospective effect unless its terms clearly show that such an effect was intended. <u>Trustees</u> of Tufts College v. Triple R Ranch, Inc., 275 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1973).

Clearly there is no legislative intent expressed to even intimate that the 1986 amendments to \$95.031(2) should be effective retrospectively. See Ch. 86-272 Laws of Fla. The legislature could have easily expressed the intention to enact the 1986 amendment to apply retrospectively, however no such intention was evidenced in the amendment. Indeed, the amendment itself was almost six years in following the <u>Battilla</u> case.

Absent the requisite express and unequivocal legislative expression of intent that the amendments should be retrospectively applied, no such interpretation should be rendered. To so interpret an amendment such as the 1986 changes in 95.031(2) would be to go beyond proper statutory interpretation reserved for the judiciary, and cross over constitutionally prescribed boundaries separating the branches and respective powers of government.

Clearly and without any doubt, the legislature has chosen to modify the law in an expressed and quite specific manner. Equally as clear is the fact that the legislature chose <u>not</u> to speak of its changes applying retrospectively. Had the legislature chosen to, it had the power and ability to speak to the application of its changes. Plaintiffs wish to invite vast and sweeping retrospective application of the 1986 amendment to §95.031(2). The legislature has chosen to decline the invitation.

Clearly, it would be an abrogation of this Court's duty to ignore the absence of <u>any</u> legislative intent and apply the 1986 amendment to §95.031(2) retrospectively. Accordingly the 1986 amendment to §95.031(2) should not be applied retrospective back over 10 years in time to give life to the claim of the plaintiffs.

CONCLUSION

The District Court of Appeal was correct in its affirmance of the trial court's proper application of §95.031(2) in granting Summary Judgment for defendants. This court has held §95.031(2) to be constitutional. A rational and legitimate basis exists for applying the twelve (12) year limitations provided for in Florida Statutes §95.031(2) to cases based on products liability. Further, the Florida legislature's 1986 amendment of Florida Statute §95.031(2) should not be retrospectively applied absent direct expression of an intent by the legislature that it be so applied. Clearly any such intent on the part of the legislature is absent. Appellees respectively request the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in favor of the Appellees be AFFIRMED.